OF

ROOKERY BAY MAINTENANCE, INC. A Corporation Not for Profit

ARTICLE I. IDENTIFICATION

- 1.1 <u>Identity</u>: These are the By-Laws of Rookery Bay Maintenance, Inc., a corporation not for profit organized and existing under the laws of Florida, hereinafter called "Association."
- 1.2 <u>Purpose</u>: The Association has been organized for the purpose of operating a Condominium pursuant to Chapter 718, Florida Statutes (1989), hereinafter called the "Condominium Act." The Condominium to be operated by the Association is Edgewater Pointe at Perico Bay Club, a Condominium, Section II, located in Manatee County, Florida, hereinafter called "Condominium."
- 1.3 Office: The office of the Association shall be at 3653 Cortez Road West, Bradenton, Florida 34210, until otherwise changed by the Board of Directors.
- 1.4 $\underline{\text{Fiscal Year}}$: The fiscal year of the Association shall be the calendar year.
- 1.5 <u>Seal</u>: The seal of the corporation shall bear the name of the corporation, the word "Florida," the words "corporation not for profit" and the year of incorporation.

ARTICLE II. MEMBERS

- 2.1 <u>Qualification</u>: The members of the Association shall consist of all of the record owners of units in the Condominium operated by the Association.
- 2.2 Change of Membership: Change of membership in the Association shall be established by (a) recording in the Public Records of Manatee County, Florida, a deed or other instrument establishing a change in record title to a unit in the Condominium; (b) the delivery to the Association of a copy of such instrument; and (c) the approval of the Association to such change in ownership as required in the Declaration. Upon the happening of all three such events, the owner established by such instrument shall thereupon become a member of the Association, and the membership of the prior owner shall be terminated. The Association may waive the requirement of certification of such copy if it desires.
- 2.3 <u>Multiple Owners</u>: When a unit is owned by more than one person, whether as co-tenants, joint tenants, tenants by the entirety or otherwise, each owner shall be a member of the Association by virtue of being a record owner of an interest in a unit. Lessees of units shall not be members. All matters of voting shall, however, be determined on a unit basis, as provided in Article III.
- 2.4 <u>Restraint Upon Assignment of Membership, Shares and Assets</u>: The membership of a unit owner, and the share of a member in the funds and assets of the Association shall not be assigned, hypothecated or transferred in any manner except as an appurtenant to his unit.
- 2.5 Evidence of Membership: There shall be no stock or membership certificates in the Association. Membership shall be determined by approved ownership as herein provided.

ARTICLE III. VOTING

- 3.1 <u>Voting Rights</u>: The member or members who are the record owners of each Condominium unit shall be collectively entitled to one (1) vote for each such unit in the Condominium, as provided in the Declaration and the Articles of Incorporation. If members own more than one unit, they shall be entitled to one vote for each unit owned. A unit vote may not be divided.
- 3.2 <u>Voting Procedure</u>: The single or multiple owners of each unit shall have one vote for each unit. All determination of requisite majorities and quorums for all purposes under the Declaration, the Articles of Incorporation and these By-Laws shall be made by reference to the number of units in the Condominium entitled to vote. Decisions of the Association shall be made by the owners of a majority of units represented at a meeting at which a quorum is present, unless a greater percentage is required by the Declaration, the Articles of Incorporation, these By-Laws or the Condominium Act.
- 3.3 Quorum: A quorum shall exist when the owners of one-third or more of the units are present, either in person, or by proxy.
- 3.4 <u>Designation of Voting Representative</u>: There shall only be one (1) vote per Unit. If a unit is owned by more than one (1) natural person, any record owner of the unit may vote in person or by proxy, provided that there shall be no more than one (1) vote per unit. In the case of conflict among the owners of the unit, the vote for that unit shall not be counted as to the matter under consideration in which the conflict arose, and whether the conflict appears by vote in person or proxy. Votes may be cast for units owned by corporations or partnerships by a president, vice-president, or a general partner, as applicable, and no voting certificate shall be necessary. If any other officer is to vote for a corporation or other limited partners to vote for a partnership, a written certificate must be filed with the Secretary of the Association and signed by a president or vice-president of a corporation or a general partner of a partnership. Votes may be cast for units owned in trust by a Trustee.
- 3.5 Approval or Disapproval of Matters: Whenever the decision of a unit owner is required upon any matter, whether or not the subject of an Association meeting, such decision shall be expressed by the same person who would cast the vote of such owner if at an Association meeting, unless the joinder of record owners is specifically required by the Declaration or these By-Laws.
- 3.6 Method of Voting: Subject to the provisions of the Declaration, voting may be by roll call voice vote or by written ballot; provided that whenever written approval is required by the Declaration, or wherever any amendment to any Condominium document is proposed, or when any improvement, special assessment, election or regulation is put to a vote, the voting shall be by written ballot. Any vote to amend the Declaration relating to a change in percentage of ownership in the common elements or sharing of the common expense shall be by secret ballot. Routine matters such as approval of minutes, adjournment, acceptance of reports, parliamentary questions and social business may be determined by "yeas" and "nays;" provided, that any five voting members, or the chairman, may require a roll call vote.

ARTICLE IV. MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

4.1 Annual Meeting: The annual meeting of the members shall be held during the month of March of each year on a day and at a time determined by the Board of Directors; provided that notice pursuant to Section 4.3 is given at least 14 days prior to the date set for the annual meeting. The annual meeting shall be for

the purpose of electing Directors, and transacting any other business authorized to be transacted by the members.

- 4.2 Special Meetings: Special meetings of the members shall be held whenever called by the President, or Vice President, or by a majority of the Board of Directors, and must be called by such officers upon receipt of a written request from voting members entitled to cast votes for not fewer than 15% of the total number of units in the Condominium, unless a smaller percentage is provided for consideration of particular issues by the Condominium Act.
- 4.3 Notice of Meetings: Notice of all meetings of the members, stating the time, place and objects for which the meeting is called, shall be given by the President or Vice President or Secretary, unless waived in writing. The notice for any meeting at which assessments against unit owners are to be considered shall contain a statement of the nature of such assessments and that such assessments will be considered. Such notice shall be given in writing to each member at his address, as it appears on the books of the Association, and shall be mailed or delivered not fewer than fifteen (15) days, nor more than sixty (60) days, prior to the date of the meeting, and by the posting in a conspicuous place on the Condominium property of a notice of the meeting at least fifteen (15) days, but not more than sixty (60) days, in advance of the date of the meeting. The notice to each member shall be furnished by personal delivery, or by mailing the same by either regular or certified mail to the member at his address as it appears on the books of the Association. A duplicate notice shall be furnished to the designated voting representative if such voting representative is not also an owner. Proof of such mailing shall be given by Affidavit of the person giving the notice in accordance with the Condominium Act. Notice of meetings may be waived in writing before, during or after meetings. Provided, however, that notice of the annual meeting shall be given by mail, and notice thereof may be waived only in writing and prior to the date for the giving of such notice, in accordance with the Condominium Act.
- 4.4 <u>Place</u>: Meetings of the Association members shall be held on the Condominium Property or at such other place in Manatee County, Florida, as the Board of Directors may designate in the Notice of Meeting.
- 4.5 Adjournments: If any meeting of members cannot be organized because a quorum has not attended, the members who are present, either in person or by proxy, may adjourn the meeting from time to time until a quorum is present.
- 4.6 Order of Business: The order of business at annual meetings, and as far as practical at all special meetings, shall be:
 - (a) Election of Chairman of the meeting (if necessary).
 - (b) Calling of the roll and certifying of the proxies.
 - (c) Proof of notice of the meeting or waiver of notice.
 - (d) Reading and disposal of any unapproved minutes.
 - (e) Reports of officers.
 - (f) Reports of committees.
 - (g) Election of Directors.
 - (h) Unfinished business.
 - (i) New business.
 - (j) Announcements.
 - (k) Adjournment.
- 4.7 Action Without Meeting: Whenever the affirmative vote or approval of the members is required or permitted by the Declaration, Condominium Act or these By-Laws, such action may be taken without a meeting if members entitled to cast not fewer than 75% of the votes if such meeting were held, shall agree in

writing that such action be taken and waive the necessity of such meeting. Provided, however, that if a greater percentage approval is required, then not less than such percentage must so agree in writing. Provided further that the Declaration, Articles of Incorporation and these By-Laws may not be amended without a meeting. Notice of the action so taken shall be given in writing to all members who did not approve such action in writing within Fourteen (14) days of such approval. No action may be taken pursuant to this Section 4.7 for which a meeting of members is required by the Condominium Act.

- 4.8 <u>Proviso</u>: Provided, however, that until the Developer has terminated its control of the Association and its affairs in accordance with the Declaration and the Condominium Act, the proceedings of all meetings of the members of the Association shall have no effect unless approved by the Board of Directors, except for the rights of the unit owners other than Developer to elect Directors and such other matters for which the Condominium Act requires the approval, consent, vote or other action by unit owners other than the Developer.
- 4.9 Meetings Relating to Perico Bay Club Association: All matters in which members of this Association shall be required or requested to cast individual votes as members of Perico Bay Club Association, Inc., pursuant to the Articles and By-Laws of said Association, and the Master Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions for Perico Bay Club, shall be subject generally to the provisions of Article III and this Article IV with respect to the method of calling such meetings and the manner of voting at such meetings. Whenever the Board of this Association, which holds irrevocable proxies for those members of the Perico Bay Club Association, Inc., which are also members of this Association, determines that the vote of such members is required or requested, such matter or matters may be considered at any regular or special meeting, or the action may be taken without a meeting upon written ballots delivered to the Board. As provided in the Covenants, Articles and By-Laws of Perico Bay Club Association, Inc., all votes so taken shall be reported in the numbers in which they are cast to the Perico Bay Club Association, Inc. The provisions of this Section 4.9 shall be strictly limited to the function of this Association as a vehicle for voting by the members of this Association, not as members of this Association per se, but as members of the Perico Bay Club Association, Inc.

ARTICLE V. DIRECTORS

- 5.1 <u>Number</u>: The affairs of the Association shall be managed by a Board of not less than three (3) nor more than seven (7) Directors, the exact number to be determined by the members from time to time prior to the annual election of Directors. The Board of Directors shall at all times be comprised of an odd number of members. Until otherwise determined by the members, there shall be three (3) Directors.
- 5.2 <u>Election of Directors</u>: The election of Directors shall be conducted in the following manner:
- (a) Election of Directors shall be held at the annual meeting of the members. A nominating committee of not less than three (3) nor more than five (5) members may be appointed by the Board of Directors not less than thirty (30) days prior to the annual meeting of the members. The nominating committee shall nominate at least one (1) person for each Directorship. Other nominations may be made from the floor, and nominations for additional directorships, if any, created at the meeting shall be made from the floor.
- (b) The election shall be by ballots, unless dispensed with by unanimous consent, and by a plurality of the votes cast, each person voting being entitled to cast his votes for each of

as many nominees as there are vacancies to be filled. There shall be no cumulative voting.

- (c) Any Director may be recalled and removed from office, with or without cause, by the vote or agreement in writing by a majority of all unit owners. A special meeting of the unit owners to recall a member or members of the Board may be called by 10% of the unit owners giving notice of the meeting as required for a meeting of unit owners, and the notice shall state the purpose of the meeting. The vacancy in the Board of Directors so created shall be filled by vote of the members of the Association at the same meeting, or if the recall be by agreement, the Board shall fill such vacancy at a meeting within seventy-two (72) hours after receipt of the agreement. Procedures for certification of the recall, resolution of disputes and surrender of records by the recalled member shall be as provided by the Condominium Act, as it may be amended from time to time.
- (d) The Developer shall be vested with the power to designate the initial Board of Directors, the members of which need not be owners of units in the Condominium. The initial Board of Directors shall serve until the first election of Directors. Any vacancies occurring prior to the first election shall be filled by the remaining Directors.
- (e) The first election of Directors shall be held when unit owners other than Developer own 15% of the units in the Condominium ultimately operated by the Association. Within sixty (60) days after such time the Association shall call a meeting of the unit owners and give not fewer than thirty (30) nor more than forty (40) days notice of such meeting. At such meeting, unit owners other than Developer shall be entitled to elect one-third of the members of the Board of Directors. The remainder of the Board of Directors shall be designated by Developer. The Directors elected and designated at the first election shall serve until the annual meeting date that is not less than eighteen (18) months following such election or until the unit owners other than Developer are entitled to elect a majority of the Board of members pursuant to the Declaration, whichever first occurs, at which time the unit owners other than Developer shall elect the number of Directors to which they are entitled under the Declaration and Condominium Act, and Developer shall designate the remaining Directors.
- (f) When the unit owners other than Developer are entitled to elect a majority of the Board of Directors pursuant to the Declaration, a special meeting shall be called and the unit owners other than Developer shall be entitled to elect a majority of the members of the Board of Directors and Developer shall designate the remaining members. Thereafter, Directors shall be elected annually at the annual meeting.
- (g) Beginning with the election of Directors at which unit owners other than Developer are entitled to elect a majority of Directors, Developer shall, at its option, have the right to designate or elect that number of Directors determined by multiplying the total number of Directors times a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of units that will ultimately be operated by the Association, less the number of units owned by unit owners other than Developer, and the denominator of which is the total number of units that will ultimately be operated by the Association. Such number shall in no event be more than the number of Directors elected by the unit owners other than Developer, less one. Provided, that during the time Developer may designate or elect Directors under this Section 5.2(g), Developer shall be entitled to elect or designate at least one Director. All such rights shall continue so long as the Developer owns and holds for sale in the ordinary course of its business at least 5% of the units in the Condominium to be operated by the Association. Developer may waive its right to elect any one or

more Directors under this paragraph, which waiver shall apply only to the specific election at which the waiver is made. If Developer does waive such right, the unit owners shall elect the Board member or members who would otherwise have been elected or designated by Developer.

- 5.3 Term: The term of each Director's service shall extend to the next annual meeting of the members and thereafter until his successor is duly elected and qualified, or until he is removed in the manner elsewhere provided.
- 5.4 Qualifications: All Directors shall be members of the Association; provided, however, that any Director elected or designated by Developer pursuant to these By-Laws need not be members. An officer of any corporate owner and a general partner of any partnership owner shall be deemed members for the purposes of qualifying for election to the Board of Directors.
- 5.5 <u>Vacancies</u>: Except as otherwise provided herein, if the office of any Director becomes vacant, whether by reason of death, resignation, retirement, disqualification, incapacity or otherwise, a majority of the remaining Directors shall select a successor, who shall hold the office for the unexpired term of Director he is replacing. Vacancies following removal of office pursuant to Section 5.2 (c) shall be filled as therein provided. Any vacancy in the Board of Directors occurring during the time that the Developer and unit owners other than Developer share authority to elect and designate Directors shall be filled in the manner in which the Director who has vacated his office was originally elected or designated i.e. if elected by unit owners, the vacancy shall be filled by special election by unit owners other than Developer and if designated or elected by Developer, then Developer shall select and designate a person to fill SUCh vacancy.
- 5.6 <u>Disqualification</u> and <u>Resignation</u>: Any Director may resign at any time by sending written notice to the Secretary of the Association. Such resignation shall take effect upon receipt by the Secretary, unless otherwise specified in the resignation. Any Director who must be a member of the Association shall be deemed to have resigned if he transfers his unit so that he ceases to be a member of the Association. After the Developer has transferred control of the Association pursuant to the Declaration more than three (3) consecutive unexcused absences from regular Board meetings shall be deemed a resignation, which shall be effective upon acceptance by the Board.
- 5.7 <u>Voting</u>: All voting for the election of Directors shall be by unit as provided in Article III hereof.
- 5.8 Organization Meeting: The organization meeting of a newly elected Board of Directors shall be held within ten (10) days of its election, at such place and time as shall be fixed by the Directors at the meeting at which they were elected, and no further notice of the organization meeting shall be necessary.
- 5.9 <u>Regular Meetings</u>: The Board may, from time to time, establish a schedule of regular meetings to be held at such time and place as the Board may designate. Any regular scheduled meetings may be dispensed with upon written concurrence of not less than two-thirds (2/3) of the members of the Board.
- 5.10 <u>Special Meetings</u>: Special Meetings of the Directors may be called by the President and must be called by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary at the written request of one-third of the Directors.
- 5.11 Notice: Notice of each regular or special meeting shall be given to each Director personally or by mail, telephone or telegraph at least three (3) days prior to the meeting date. All

notices shall state the time and place of the meeting, and if a special meeting, the purposes thereof. Any Director may waive notice of a meeting before, during or after the meeting, and all such waivers shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of notice. Attendance by a Director at a meeting shall be deemed a waiver of Notice by him.

- 5.12 Quorum: A quorum at Directors' meetings shall consist of a majority of the entire Board of Directors. The acts approved by a majority of those present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall constitute the act of the Board of Directors; except where approval of a greater number of Directors is required by the Condominium Act, the Declaration or these By-Laws.
- 5.13 Adjourned Meeting: If, at any meeting of the Board of Directors, there be less than a quorum present, the majority of those present may adjourn the meeting from time to time until a quorum is present. At any adjourned meeting any business which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally called may be transacted without further notice.
- 5.14 Joinder in Meeting by Approval of Minutes: A member of the Board of Directors may join by written concurrence in any action taken at a meeting of the Board but such concurrence may not be used for purposes of creating a quorum.
- 5.15 Meetings Open: Meeting of the Board of Directors shall be open to all unit owners, and notices of such meeting shall be posted conspicuously forty-eight (48) hours in advance of such meeting for the attention of unit owners except in an emergency.
- 5.16 <u>Presiding Officer</u>: The presiding officer at Directors' meetings shall be the President. In the absence of the President, the Vice President shall preside. In the absence of both, the Directors present shall designate one of their members to
- 5.17 Directors' Fees: Directors' fees, if any, shall be determined by the members of the Association; provided, Directors designated by the Developer shall not be entitled to Directors'
- 5.18 Order of Business: The order of business of Directors' meetings shall be:
 - (a) Roll call.
 - (b) Proof of notice of meetings or waiver of notice.(c) Reading and disposal of any unapproved minutes.

 - (d) Reports of officers and committees.
 - (e) Election of officers, if any.
 - (f) Unfinished business.

 - (g) New business. (h) Announcements.
 - (i) Adjournment.

ARTICLE VI. POWERS AND DUTIES OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors shall have all powers, authority, discretion and duties necessary for the administration of the Association and operation of the Condominium, except as may be reserved or granted to the unit owners, Developer or a specific committee or committees of the Association by the Declaration, Articles of Incorporation, these By-Laws or the Condominium Act. The powers of the Board shall include, but shall not be limited the following:

6.1 General Powers: All powers specifically set forth in the Declaration, Articles of Incorporation and these By-Laws, and in the Condominium Act, and all powers incident thereto or

- 6.2 Enforcement and Fines: The Board of Directors shall enforce by legal means, provisions of the Condominium Act, Declaration of Condominium, the Articles of Incorporation, the By-Laws and Rules and Regulations. In the event that the Board of Directors determines that any unit owner, occupant or guest is in violation of any of the provisions of the Condominium Act, the Declaration, By-Laws, Articles or Rules and Regulations, the Board, or an agent or committee of the Board designated for that purpose, shall notify the unit owner of the nature of the violation, and the owner of the unit which that person occupies, or is a guest, if that person is not the owner, of the specific nature of the alleged violation, including statements setting forth the provisions of the condominium documents allegedly violated and a short and plain statement of the matters asserted by the Association, and adsvising of an opportunity for a hearing before the Board of Directors upon a written request delivered to the Board member or designated agent within 14-days of the date of the notice of the violation or violations. The Board notice shall state the date, time and place of the hearing to be held if the hearing is requested. The Board notice shall also specify, and is hereby provided, that each reoccurence of the violation or each day during which the violation continues shall be deemed a seperate offense, subject to a seperate fine, not to exceed \$50. The party against whom the fine may be levied shall have an opportunity to respond, to present evidence, provide written and oral argument on all issues involved and shall have an opportunity at the hearing to review, challenge and respond to any material considered by the Board of Directors. Subsequent to the hearing, or if no hearing is timely requested, the Board of Directors shall determine whether there is sufficient evidence of a violation or violations. If the Board determines that there is sufficient evidence to support a fine, the Board may levy a fine and shall send written notification to the violator, and the unit owner if different than the violator, announcing its findings and notifying of the levy of a fine or fines. No further notice or hearings shall be necessary to enable the Board to levy a fine for an uncorrected violation, or for recuuring violations substantially similar to violations for which a hearing opportunity was previously provided. A fine pursuant to this section shall be assessed against the unit which the violator occupied or was visiting at the time of the violation, whether or not the violator is an owner of that unit, and shall be promptly paid to the Association by the owner of that unit. The owner shall be liable for attorneys fees and costs incurred by the Association incident to the levy or collection of the fines, including appellate proceedings.
- 6.3 <u>Budget and Assessments</u>: To adopt budgets and make assessments, and to use and expend assessments and other receipts of the Association to carry out the powers and duties of the Association pursuant to the Declaration, By-Laws and Condominium Act.
- 6.4 Employment: To employ, dismiss, control and contract for personnel and contractors for the administration of the Association and operation of the Condominium, including but not limited to managers, maintenance personnel, attorneys, accountants and other professionals, by employment or contract, as the Board may determine.
- 6.5 Rules and Regulations: To adopt, amend and rescind reasonable rules and regulations relating to the administration of the Association and operation and use of the Condominium Property, subject to the Declaration, By-Laws and Condominium Act. Provided, however, that any rules or regulations adopted by the Board may be supplemented, amended or rescinded by affirmative vote of the owners of not less than two-thirds (2/3) of the units in the Condominium. Any such rules or regulations

approved by the owners shall not thereafter be amended or rescinded except upon affirmative vote of the owners of not less than two-thirds (2/3) of the units in the Condominium.

- 6.6 Committees: To create and disband such committees as the Board may from time to time determine as reasonably necessary or useful in and about the administration of the Association and operation of the Condominium, and to delegate such authority to such committees as may be reasonable in connection with their purpose, subject always to the provisions of the Declaration, Articles of Incorporation, By-Laws and Condominium Act. All committees of the Association shall keep records and conduct meetings in the same manner, to the extent applicable, as is required of the Board of Directors. Nothing contained herein shall restrict the authority of the unit owners to create, elect and disband such committees, or from modifying the duties and responsibilities of such committees. Any such action of the unit owners shall not be amended or rescinded except by the unit owners. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to restrict the authority of the President of the Association from appointing advisory committees not inconsistent with committees created by the Board of Directors and the unit owners.
- 6.7 Record of Mortgages: The Board of Directors shall maintain a book, or other written record, of all holders of mortgages upon each unit. The holder of each mortgage shall be designated as either an "institutional mortgage" or not, as the case may be. Each unit owner must notify the Association of any mortgage on his unit, and the name and address of the mortgagee, within five (5) days after executing and delivering a mortgage on his unit. This record shall be open to inspection, or for copying, by all institutional mortgages holding mortgages on the Condominium Property, during normal business hours, but the record shall not be opened to the inspection of any others.

ARTICLE VII. OFFICERS

- 7.1 Officers and Election: The officers of the Association shall be a President, who shall be a Director a Vice President, who shall be a Director: a Treasurer, a Secretary and such other officers as may be determined from time to time by the Board, all of whom shall be elected annually by the Board of Directors, and who may be pre-emptorily removed by a majority vote of all Directors at any meeting. Any person may hold two offices except that the President shall not also be the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary. The Board of Directors shall designate the powers and duties of such other officers as it may create.
- 7.2 <u>President</u>: The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Association. He shall have all of the powers and duties which are usually vested in the office of President of an Association including but not limited to the power to appoint advisory committees from time to time, from among the members or others as he may in his discretion determine appropriate, to assist in the conduct of the affairs of the Association. He shall serve as Chairman at all Board and Membership meetings.
- 7.3 <u>Vice President</u>: The Vice President shall, in the absence or disability of the President exercise the powers and perform the duties of the President. He shall also generally assist the President, and exercise such other powers and perform such other duties as shall be prescribed by the Directors.
- 7.4 <u>Secretary and Assistant Secretary</u>: The Secretary shall keep the minutes of all proceedings of the Directors and the members. He shall attend to the giving and serving of all notice to the members and Directors, and other notices required by law and the Condominium documents. He shall keep the records of the Association, except those of the Treasurer, and shall perform all other duties incident to the office of Secretary of an

Association, as may be required by the Directors or the President. The Assistant Secretary, if such office is created, shall perform the duties of the Secretary, when the Secretary is absent. The minutes of all meetings of the members and the Board of Directors shall be kept in books available for inspection by members, or their authorized representatives, and Board members at any reasonable time. All such records shall be retained for not less than seven (7) years.

- 7.5 <u>Treasurer</u>: The Treasurer shall have the custody of all the property of the Association including funds, securities and evidences of indebtedness. He shall keep the books of the Association in accordance with good accounting practices and provide for collection of assessments and he shall perform all other duties incident to the office of Treasurer.
- 7.6 <u>Compensation</u>: The compensation of all officers and employees of the Association shall be fixed by the Directors. The provisions that Directors' fees shall be determined by members shall not preclude the Board of Directors from employing a Director as an employee of the Association, nor preclude contracting with a Director for the management of the Condominium. No officer who is a designee of the Developer shall receive any compensation for his services.
- 7.7 Indemnification of Directors and Officers: Every Director and every officer of the Association shall be indemnified by the Association against all expenses and liabilities, including attorney's fees, reasonably incurred by or imposed upon him in connection with any proceeding to which he may be a party or on which he may become involved by reason of his being or having been a Director or officer of the Association, whether or not he is Director or officer at the time such expenses are incurred, except in such cases when the Director or officer is adjudged guilty of willful misfeasance or malfeasance in the performance of his duties. The foregoing right of indemnification shall be in addition to and not exclusive of all other rights to which such Director or officer may be entitled.
- 7.8 Term: All officers shall hold office until their successors are chosen and qualify.

ARTICLE VIII. FISCAL MANAGEMENT

The provisions for fiscal management of the Association set forth in the Declaration of Condominium shall be supplemented by the following provisions:

- 8.1 Accounting: Receipts and expenditures of the Association shall be credited and charged to accounts under the following general classifications, as shall be appropriate, all of which expenditures shall be common expenses:
- (a) Current Expenses: Current expenses shall include all receipts and expenditures to be made within the year for which the funds are budgeted and may include a reasonable allowance for contingencies and working funds, except expenditures chargeable to reserves or betterments. The balance in this fund at the end of each year shall be applied to reduce the assessment for current expenses for the succeeding year or to fund reserves. The current expense classification shall be detailed and shall include, but not be limited to, the following subclassifications where applicable:
 - (i) Administration of the Association.
 - (ii) Management fees.
 - (iii) Maintenance.
 - (iv) Rent for recreational and other commonly used facilities.

- (v) Taxes upon Association property.
- (vi) Taxes upon leased areas.
- (vii) Insurance.
- (viii) Security provisions.
- (ix) Other expenses.(x) Operating capital.
- (xi) Sees payable to the Division of Florida Land
 - Sales and Condominiums.
- (b) Reserves for Deferred Maintenance: Reserves for deferred maintenance shall include funds for maintenance items which occur less frequently than annually.
- (c) <u>Reserve for Capital Expenditures and Replacement</u>: Reserves for capital expenditures and replacement shall include funds for repair or replacement required because of damage, depreciation or obsolescence.
- (d) <u>Betterments</u>: Reserves for betterments shall be used for capital expenditures for betterments as herein defined. Reserves for betterments shall be budgeted within the sole discretion of the Board of Directors.
- (e) Additional Accounts: The Board may establish additional accounts for specifically authorized improvements, or other categories consistent with accepted accounting practices.
- 8.2 <u>Budget</u>: The Board of Directors shall adopt a budget for each calendar year which shall include the estimated funds required to defray the current expenses and funds for required reserves, and may provide funds for specifically proposed betterments and approved improvements. Provided, however, that during the period of time the Developer has the right to, and exercises control of the Association, budgets may be adopted for other than a calendar year.
- 8.3 <u>Procedure</u>: The Board of Directors shall adopt a budget in accordance with the Condominium Act, as same may be amended from time to time.
- Betterments: Betterments shall mean and include the acquisition of tangible personal property by the Association for the benefit of the Association and its members, and shall also include the acquisition, installation and construction of things, as well as the performance of work, the result of which shall improve or enhance the value of the common elements or its use by the Condominium residents. Betterments shall not require increased maintenance to the extent that they will have a substantial impact on common expenses. Betterments shall be of a lesser magnitude than improvements, and shall not be subject to the restrictions of Article 11 of the Declaration. By way of explanation only, and not by way of limitation, the following shall be deemed betterments: the installation of improved or additional street lighting; installation of additional landscaping: the widening of existing paved streets or walks, or the paying of new walks or paths; installation of improved or additional barbecue or picnic facilities; construction of a fishing dock in a lake or stream; installation of a heating system for a pool; or the extension of an irrigation or sprinkling system. By contrast, improvements, as used in the Declaration, are intended to include the construction of new buildings or additions to the existing buildings, the installation of recreational facilities such as pools and tennis courts, and other activities that substantially alter the use of the common elements and impact upon maintenance expense. Betterments shall in no event exceed a total cost of Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000.00) in any fiscal year, nor shall any one project costing in excess of Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars (\$2,500.00) be deemed a betterment, without the approval of unit owners owning a majority of the units in the Condominium. The

Board of Directors may plan for and include within the budget amounts for betterments and may expend such amounts; provided, however, that the Association, by majority vote of those present at any meeting, may overrule the decision of the Board that a given budget item constitutes a betterment, and may require the same be treated as an improvement and approved as required by the Declaration. It is the purpose of this section to permit the Board of Directors, within limitations and guidelines, to provide for enhancements to the Condominium Property that might otherwise be technically considered an improvement, and to provide both discretion to the Board, yet protect the right of the unit owners to require that the more restrictive improvement procedures be invoked. The cost for betterments shall not be incurred without notice to the members, either by way of inclusion in a budget, notice at a meeting, or otherwise, so that the members' right to object shall be secured. The determination of the Board to treat an item as one of betterment shall be conclusive after the Association has had the opportunity to direct that same be deemed a proposed improvement. The Association members shall be considered to have had an opportunity to take such action if there has been a regular or special meeting of the membership at the time of giving of such notice or within thirty (30) days thereafter, or if more than fifteen (15) days have elapsed after the giving of such notice and no request for a special meeting pursuant to Section 4.2 has been made. If such request for a special meeting is made, then the determination of the Board must await the conclusion of the special meeting called pursuant to such request. If any such meeting is held, and a majority does not direct that such proposed betterment be deemed an improvement, then thereafter the Board's determination to treat same as a betterment shall be conclusive.

8.5 Assessments and Special Charges: Annual Regular Assessments against a unit owner for his share of the items of the budget shall be made in advance on or before December 20 preceding the year for which the assessment is made. Such assessment shall be due in four (4) equal quarter annual installments, which shall come due on the 1st day of January, April, July and October of the year for which the assessments are made. If an annual Regular Assessment is not made as required, a Regular Assessment shall be presumed to have been made in the amount of the last prior Regular Assessment and monthly payments thereon shall be due from the 1st day of each month until changed by an amended assessment. In the event the annual Regular Assessment proves to be insufficient, the budget may be amended at any time by the Board and a Supplementary Assessment levied. The Supplementary Assessment shall be due on the 1st day of the month next following the month in which the Supplementary Assessment is made or as otherwise provided by the Board of Directors. The first Regular Assessment shall be determined by the Board of Directors of the Association. Other assessments may be made from time to time by the Board as provided in the Declaration, with Association approval where required. Notice of Supplementary and Improvement Assessments not previously approved by the unit owner shall be given to the unit owners. Unit owners may request a special meeting to reconsider such assessment by filing a request therefore in accordance with Section 4.2 of these By-Laws. Such request shall be filed within fifteen (15) days of mailing or delivery of the notice of such assessment. At any such special meeting called pursuant hereto, if the proposed Improvement or Supplementary Assessment is not approved by the owners of the requisite number of units in accordance with the Declaration and these By-Laws, then such assessment shall not go into effect until and unless the proposed assessment is approved in accordance with the Declaration and these By-Laws. In such event the assessment may be levied only in such form and amount as may be properly approved. Nothing contained herein shall prohibit the Board of Directors from levying a Supplementary Assessment for any bona fide emergency common expense that cannot be paid from the approved Regular Assessments and approved Supplementary Assessments or appropriate reserve funds. Nothing contained herein shall limit the authority of the Board to levy Improvement Assessments or Special Assessments for necessary repairs or to effect reconstruction under the Declaration. The Board may levy Special Charges pursuant to the Declaration.

- 8.6 Acceleration of Assessments: As provided in the Declaration, upon default in payment the Board may elect to accelerate remaining installments of annual Regular, Supplementary, Improvement or other assessments, and such assessments shall stand accelerated ten (10) days after delivery or receipt of such notice to or by the delinquent unit owner, or twenty (20) days after mailing of such notice by certified or registered mail, whichever first occurs. However, assessments shall not be accelerated less frequently than quarterly.
- 8.7 Expenditures: All funds of the Association shall be expended only upon authorization of the Board of Directors. Approval of the budget shall be deemed authority to expend funds for the items and contingency funds within the budget. Funds derived from special assessments and funds in reserves shall be expended solely for the purpose for which such assessment was made or reserve established; provided, that upon completion of such specific purpose or purposes, any excess funds shall be considered common surplus. Contingency funds may be expended for any legitimate purpose by action of the Board. Funds received from Special Charges may be expended only for the purposes for which such Special Charges were levied, including reimbursement of the general fund of the Association for amounts advanced by the Association.
- 8.8 <u>Depository</u>: The depository of the Association shall be in such bank or banks as shall be designated from time to time by the Directors, and in which the moneys of the Association shall be deposited. Withdrawal of moneys from such accounts shall be only by checks signed by such persons as are authorized by appropriate resolution of the Board of Directors. Funds of the Association may be co-mingled or kept in separate accounts, but any such co-mingling shall not alter the accounting designated pursuant to Section 8.1 hereof. All depositories shall be insured by FDIC, FSLIC or other comparable agency, unless deposit to an uninsured account is approved by a majority of the unit owners.
- 8.9 <u>Financial Statements</u>: After Developer transfers complete control of the Association, a report of the accounts of the Association shall be made annually by the Board, and a copy of the report shall be furnished to each member not later than April 1 of the year following the year for which the report is made. The Association shall prepare financial statements as required by the Condominium Act, or applicable law.
- 8.10 Fidelity Bonds: Fidelity Bonds shall be required by the Board of Directors from all persons handling or responsible for the Association's funds. The amounts of such bonds shall be determined by the Board, not to be less than minimum amounts established by the Condominium Act, as it may be amended from time to time. The premiums on such bonds shall be paid by the Management Company, in the absence of a management company the Association shall pay the premiums as a common expense.

ARTICLE IX. PARLIAMENTARY RULES

Roberts Rules of Order, the latest edition, shall govern the conduct of the meetings of the Association, the Board of Directors and Committees of the Association when not in conflict with the Declaration, Articles of Incorporation or these By-Laws.

ARTICLE X. TRANSFER OF UNITS

The Board of Directors of the Association is empowered to

approve or disapprove of transferees of Condominium units and the Board shall make reasonable rules, regulations and standards consistent with the Declaration, governing the approval or disapproval of transferees in the Condominium, which regulations and standards shall be designed to maintain a community of congenial residents of good character and with sufficient financial ability to timely pay the assessments of the Association and taxes and other requirements for payments resulting from residence in the Condominium. No person shall be denied the right to purchase or lease a unit because of race, religion, sex or national origin. Such standards, as to purchasers and lessees within the Condominium, shall be drafted by or under the direction of the first elected Board of Directors after the Developer relinquishes control of the Association, and even after Developer relinquishes control of the Association but is conducting sales of units in later stages of the Condominium, Developer shall attempt to maintain the congeniality and compatibility required to carry out the common purpose in this Condominium. However, if the Developer shall have any question regarding the sale or lease of any unit he may submit the name of the purchaser or lessee to the Board of Directors for approval, and if he so submits the name of a purchaser or lessee to the Board, Developer shall be bound by the Board's decision.

ARTICLE XI. AMENDMENT

These By-Laws may be amended in the manner set forth in the Declaration, and using procedures that incorporate the provisions of the Condominium Act, as same may be amended from time to time; provided, however, no Amendment shall discriminate against any unit owner, or against any unit or class or group of units unless the unit owners so affected shall consent. No Amendment shall be made that is in conflict with the Articles of Incorporation or the Declaration of Condominium. Amendments to the By-Laws shall not be effective until they have been certified by the officer of the Association and a copy of the Amendment is recorded in the books of the Association.

ARTICLE XII. ARBITRATION

Internal disputes arising from the operation of the Condominium among unit owners, the Association, their guests and assigns, may be resolved by voluntary binding arbitration. Arbitrators shall be provided by the American Arbitration Association. Each party to the dispute first must agree to the arbitration process and, in such case, the arbitrators' decision will be final. If judicial proceedings are taken after arbitration, the arbitrators' final decision will be admissible in evidence. Any party may seek enforcement of the arbitrators' final decision in a court of competent jurisdiction. Nothing contained herein shall prevent any party from proceeding as may be otherwise provided in the absence of agreement to submit the dispute to binding arbitration pursuant hereto. Arbitration shall also take place with regard to controversies, differences and/or problems which arise between the Association and the Developer of the Condominium, its successors and assigns, hereinafter called the "Developer". As arbitration is preferable to litigation, in all instances where arbitration is practicable, the Association shall attempt to arbitrate such controversies, differences and/or problems with the Developer prior to commencement of any legal proceedings. This obligation to arbitrate includes the right and obligation to enter into agreements with the Developer providing for arbitration.

ARTICLE XIII. MISCELLANEOUS

The provisions of these By-Laws shall be construed together with the Declaration of Condominium and the Articles of Incorporation. In the event of a conflict between the provisions hereof and the provisions of the Declaration, the provisions of

the Declaration shall control. The provisions hereof shall be liberally construed to grant to the Association sufficient practical authority to operate the Condominium. Whenever the context so requires, the use of any gender herein shall be deemed to include all genders, and the use of the plural shall include the singular and the singular shall include the plural. The foregoing was adopted as the By-Laws of the Association at the first meeting of the Board of Directors on the _______ day of _______ day

ROOKERY BAY MAINTENANCE, INC., a Florida Corporation

not-for-profit

By:

Mark Sochar, President

Barbara Parta, Secretary

R.B. SHORE, CLERK
MANATCE COUNTY, FL

OCT 24 10 59 // '91